70023-5

70023-5

NO. 70023-5-I

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT PENA,

Appellant.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

### APPELLANT'S CORRECTED OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

# **

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A criminal defendant has the right to a fair trial before an impartial jury that must be unanimous to convict. However, Robert Pena was denied the opportunity to investigate the extent to which a juror was able to hear the evidence, receive the court's instructions and participate in deliberations when the record shows the juror could not hear, at least during voir dire and at the time the jury was polled. The trial court's denial of a continuance was an abuse of discretion.

The trial court also improperly instructed the jury on the burden of proof, misstating the law and diluting the State's burden in violation of Mr. Pena's right to a fair trial.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Pena's motion to continue sentencing to allow him to further investigate a juror who could not hear.

2. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Pena's request for individual juror contact information.

3. The trial court erred in instructing the jury that an abiding belief in the truth of the charge is equivalent to proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A criminal defendant has the constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury and to be convicted only if that jury is unanimously convinced of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If a juror cannot hear the evidence or the court's instructions, the juror cannot be fair under the law. If a juror cannot listen to and participate in deliberations, jury unanimity is impossible. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying a continuance of sentencing to allow Mr. Pena to further investigate the extent to which juror number two was able to participate in trial and deliberations where the juror was unable to hear when the court polled the jury and during portions of voir dire, and where defense counsel had worked diligently to track down the jurors but had been unable to complete the task?

2. General Rule 31(j) authorizes the trial court to release juror information to a party for good cause. Mr. Pena demonstrated good cause because juror number two could not hear during portions of the trial proceedings, the court agreed it was proper for counsel to locate the jurors to determine the extent of the hearing impairment, and an investigator was able to locate only one juror without court assistance.

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in withholding juror contact information and summonses?

3. The jury's role is to decide whether the prosecution met its burden of proof, not to search for the truth. The court instructed the jury that it could find the State met its burden of proof if it had an "abiding belief in the truth of the charge." When it is not the jury's job to determine the truth, did the erroneous instruction misstate the law and dilute the burden of proof in violation of due process by focusing the jury on whether it believed the charge was true?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Pena became acquainted with Ashley P. while taking a course in Auburn, Washington. 10/24/12 II RP 21-22; 10/25/12 RP 4.<sup>1</sup> After discovering their daughters were in the same daycare program, they decided to get together with Mr. Pena's girlfriend and the mother of his daughter, Bridget Lyons, and their daughters at Ashley's apartment.<sup>2</sup> 10/24/12 II RP 23-27. Ashley testified the gathering

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings are referred to by the first date transcribed in each volume, i.e. the volume from Aug. 22, 23, and 27, 2012, is referred to herein as 8/22/12 RP. There are two volumes from October 24, 2012. The volume transcribed by Joseph T. Richling is referred to as "10/24/12 II RP." Ashley's last name is redacted to protect privacy by agreement with the State.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Because Ashley and Miranda P. share the same last name, their first names are used for clarity. No disrespect is intended.

occurred on October 8, 2011. At that time, Ashley lived in a small twobedroom apartment; the living room, dining room and kitchen were steps from and largely visible to each other. 10/24/12 II RP 19; 10/25/12 RP 12-13, 21, 58-59. That evening, the adults talked almost the entire time in the dining room while the children played in the living room. 10/24/12 II RP 27, 37-43, 51; 10/25/12 RP 35-36; 10/29/12 RP 37. Ashley testified she knew Ms. Lyons from high school, so they had a lot to discuss. 10/24/12 II RP 27-28.<sup>3</sup>

At some point, Ashley's sister Miranda P. came over spontaneously with her two children—a two-year-old boy R. and an eight-year-old girl L. 10/24/12 II RP 29-30; 10/25/12 RP 7, 27-28; 10/29/12 RP 5. Miranda and her family lived in the apartment next door and frequently came over unannounced. 10/24/12 II RP 19, 29-30; 10/25/12 RP 30. L. played in the living room with the other girls. 10/24/12 II RP 19, 40-41. A short time later, Miranda left to put R. to bed while L. remained behind for a few more minutes. 10/24/12 II RP 40-42; 10/25/12 RP 34-35, 41-42. According to Ashley, everyone got along well. 10/24/12 II RP 43-44. Mr. Pena went to the store to get

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  But see 10/25/12 RP 129 (Lyons testified she did not attend high school in Auburn).

snacks. 10/24/12 II RP 42. The women kept talking in the dining room and the girls played. 10/24/12 II RP 40-41.

Mr. Pena was arrested at his school, the Green River Community College, a couple weeks later. 10/25/12 RP 146-47. He was charged with child molestation in the first degree; an initial trial resulted in a hung jury. 9/4/12 RP 318-20; CP 1-2 (information), 18 (amended information), 36 (mistrial verdict form). Apparently, less than five minutes after Miranda left Ashley's apartment to put her son to bed, L. ran back to her apartment, slammed the door and told her mother that "that man over there" rubbed her leg in the living room while repeating "good girl" and followed her into the bathroom, where L. told him she was looking for a clock, and rubbed his hand under her clothes in her "crotch." 10/24/12 II RP42; 10/25/12 RP 42-47, 69; 10/29/12 RP 31-32. Ashley was unaware that anything had occurred until Miranda told her what L. reported. 10/24/12 II RP 45, 51. Miranda and Ashley testified they told Ms. Lyons what L. had reported and decided Ms. Lyons and Mr. Pena should leave with their daughter when he returned from the store. 10/24/12 II RP 46-47; 10/25/12 RP 48-51, 64-65.

Ms. Lyons contended she was never told of the accusation and was unaware of any such circumstances. 10/25/12 RP 123-24, 130. At trial, she testified Mr. Pena and she did not go over to Ashley's apartment on October 8, 2011 because they were mourning the loss of a friend with other mutual friends following a memorial service. 10/25/12 RP 111-12. She testified they were at Ashley's on a different night. 10/25/12 RP 114-15.

Miranda and Ashley testified Miranda contacted the police after Mr. Pena and Ms. Lyons left. 10/24/12 II RP 50; *accord* 10/24/12 II RP 5-10 (testimony of police officer who responded to Miranda's call on Oct. 8, 2011). When interviewed by a child interview specialist affiliated with the King County Prosecutor's Office, L. restated what she told her mother with some discrepancies. 10/25/12 RP 54-55, 91-95; Exhibits 17& 18 (video and transcript of interview). She also testified at trial. 10/29/12 RP 4, 25-31. However, L. did not recognize Mr. Pena at trial, and her mother did not pick him out of a montage. 10/29/12 RP 39; 10/25/12 RP 139; *see* 8/30/12 RP 188-89 (L. also did not recognize Mr. Pena during first trial). After the initial mistrial, Mr. Pena was convicted as charged. CP 36, 63, 71-82; 10/30/12 RP 2. Additional facts are set forth in the relevant argument sections below.

#### E. ARGUMENT

### 1. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Pena's motion for a continuance to further investigate the extent of juror number two's inability to hear the evidence and instructions and to participate in deliberations.

On the second day of voir dire, a prospective juror asked the bailiff for a listening device because she had been unable to hear the prior day's proceedings. 10/24/12 RP 4. A device was provided, and the prospective juror was selected for the jury, to serve as juror number two. 10/24/12 RP 4; 10/23/12 RP 134-36, 139; CP 64. After more than two full days of trial testimony, evidence and argument, and after deliberations, the jury returned to the courtroom to deliver its verdict and was polled by the court. 10/30/12 RP 2-3. It became immediately apparent to the court and the parties that juror number two could not hear the court's questions. 10/30/12 RP 3-4; CP 64-65, 67-68; *see* 10/23/12 RP 134(counsel indicates questions were posed with "increased volume into the microphone"). The following colloquy occurred:

The Court: Juror 2, this was your individual verdict?

Juror No. 2: I can't -

The Court: Is this how you voted?

Juror No. 2: (Nodded affirmatively.) I can't hear you.

The Court: You can't hear me?

Juror No. 2: What is she saying?

The Court: Juror 2, can you hear me at all without the – can you hear me now?

Juror No. 2: Okay.

The Court: Can you hear me now?

Juror No. 2: Yeah.

The Court: Okay. Was this your individual verdict, is this how you voted?

Juror No. 2: Yes.

The Court: Was it the verdict of the entire panel?

(Off the record.)

The Court: Was it how the entire jury panel voted?

Juror No. 2: I can't hear.

The Court: Did the entire jury panel vote to convict?

Juror No. 2: Yes.

The Court: Okay.

10/30/12 RP 3-4.

Defense counsel filed a motion for a new trial and for time to investigate the extent of juror number two's inability to hear the trial and deliberations. CP 64. The court granted defense counsel time to investigate, and Mr. Pena waived his right to speedy sentencing to accommodate his right to a trial by jury and by a unanimous jury. 10/23/12 RP 141-42. But when counsel reported at the next hearing that she had only been able to track down one juror, who had not responded to inquiries, and requested additional time and information on the jurors from the court, the court denied the request and Mr. Pena was sentenced. CP 70; 10/23/12 RP 146-50.

> a. <u>This Court must carefully review the record to determine</u> whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying a continuance.

An appellate court reviews the denial of a motion for continuance for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 280, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). Discretion is abused if it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *State v. Melton*, 63 Wn. App. 63, 66, 817 P.2d 413 (1991). The standard of review on this particular issue requires the appeals court to "more carefully review the factual basis upon which the trial court relied" to ensure that its denial of the continuance was not manifestly unreasonable. *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn.2d 561, 604, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001).

A trial court should consider "various factors when exercising its discretion including: diligence, due process, the need for an orderly procedure, the possible impact on the trial, and whether prior continuances were granted." *City of Tacoma v. Bishop*, 82 Wn. App. 850, 861, 920 P.2d 214 (1996) (citing *State v. Early*, 70 Wn. App. 452, 458, 853 P.2d 964 (1993), *review denied*, 123 Wn.2d 1004, 868 P.2d 872 (1994)).

### b. <u>A careful review of the record substantiated the concern that</u> juror number two could not effectively participate and a continuance would not have been prejudicial.

Mr. Pena acted diligently by moving promptly for a mistrial but admitting the record was insufficient and requesting time to investigate. 10/23/12 RP 133-45; CP 64-65. During the time granted for investigation, defense counsel hired an investigator, who worked to contact Mr. Pena's jury. The investigator did locate a juror and made several attempts to contact that juror. 10/23/12 RP 147. But the juror did not respond. *Id.* Thus, Mr. Pena's diligence had not yet produced results and a further continuance was necessary. Mr. Pena further requested that the trial court provide him with the contact information

used to process the jury summonses for the jury. 10/23/12 RP 147-48. Mr. Pena acted diligently.

Mr. Pena was prejudiced by the denial of the motion for continuance. The record shows substantial likelihood that juror number two could not have participated in deliberations, did not hear trial evidence, and did not hear the court's instructions. The State argued and the court accepted that the juror knew how to ask for assistance when needed, so the court could presume the juror could hear at all other times. 10/23/12 RP 147-50. In fact, however, the record shows the opposite. During polling of the jury, juror number two did not state she could not hear until she was directly questioned by the court and could not respond. 10/30/12 RP 2-4. Unless her ability to hear was compromised only at the precise moment when the court began polling her, she sat through the court's introductory remarks, the foreperson's delivery of the verdict and the polling of the foreperson and juror number 1 without providing any indication that she could not hear. 10/30/12 RP 2-3. If juror number two did not ask for assistance then, one cannot presume from the lack of request that she was, in fact, able to hear the entirety of the trial, including deliberations and the court's instructions.

If Mr. Pena had been permitted time to amass a record showing the juror's inability to hear during the trial and deliberations, he would have had adequate support for a new trial. In Wisconsin v. Turner, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals held a criminal defendant's state and federal constitutional rights to an impartial jury and due process were infringed upon when either one or two jurors were unable to hear the testimony of a material witness. 186 Wis.2d 277, 521 N.W.2d 148, 151 (1994). Similarly, in Kansas v. Hayes, a juror was unable to hear trial testimony; the state Supreme Court reversed the denial of a mistrial, holding that the defendant's rights to an impartial jury and due process were violated when the juror could not hear the defendant's testimony. 17 P.3d 317 (Kan. 2001); accord Kansas v. Miller, 722 P.2d 1131, 1133-34 (Kan. Ct. App. 1986) (abuse of discretion not to declare mistrial where juror could not hear material testimony); cf. Illinois v. Miller, 725 N.E.2d 48, 56-58 (Ill. Ct. App. 2000) (defendant denied fair trial where jury could not hear and see all of victim's testimony because closed circuit system failed to an unknown extent).

Thus unlike *Woods*, where the record did not show a continuance for competency determination would be fruitful, Mr. Pena made a threshold showing for a continuance to further investigate juror

number two. *Woods*, 143 Wn.2d at 604-08 (affirming denial of continuance for pre-penalty phase competency determination where record does not make threshold showing of incompetence).

Further, the prejudice to Mr. Pena in denying the continuance stands in contrast to the lack of prejudice found in *State v. Herzog*, 69 Wn. App. 521, 524-25, 849 P.2d 1235 (1993). In *Herzog*, this Court reviewed the denial of a motion to continue sentencing until written results from a medical examination were available. *Id*. This Court held there was no prejudice to Mr. Herzog because the trial court considered the substance of the medical examination results at sentencing despite not having them in written form. *Id*. at 525. The trial court in *Herzog*, thus, did not abuse its discretion. Here on the other hand, the trial court could not evaluate the effect of juror number two's hearing difficulty without granting Mr. Pena further time to investigate. The court did not consider the substance of the motion for a new trial. Mr. Pena was prejudiced by the denial of his motion for a continuance.

Moreover, there would have been no comparable prejudice to the State if the court had granted a continuance. The victim and her family did not attend sentencing or submit information to the court. 10/23/12 RP 157-58. On the other hand, Mr. Pena had several

supporters in attendance at the sentencing hearing, who also spoke on his behalf. 10/23/12 RP 160-62. The State asserted at the hearing on the continuance that prejudice derived in the form of expense—Mr. Pena remained incarcerated in the county jail pending sentencing, after which he would presumably be moved to a state penitentiary. 10/23/12 RP 149. But, in either case, as the prosecutor acknowledged, he would be in the care of, and at the administrative expense of, the State. *Id*. This is hardly prejudicial to the State, and certainly even if prejudicial, is insufficient to overcome Mr. Pena's weighty interests.

#### c. <u>The court further abused its discretion by denying Mr.</u> <u>Pena's request for the court's assistance in locating jurors.</u>

At the initial hearing on the matter, Mr. Pena requested the court's assistance in locating jurors and ensuring their responsiveness. 10/23/12 RP 136-40. The court denied the request for assistance, but agreed that it was important that Mr. Pena talk with multiple jurors in order to assess juror number two's ability to hear and participate. 10/23/12 RP 136-37, 140-41. Thus, the court merely granted an initial continuance of sentencing. 10/23/12 RP 142-45. Because Mr. Pena could not locate eleven of the jurors and had spoken with none of them, he requested the court's resources in locating jurors again at the subsequent hearing. 10/23/12 RP 146-48. Despite the court's earlier

understanding of the importance of the investigation, the court denied the request to disclose contact information. 10/23/12 RP 149-50.

General Rule 31(j) allows the court to disclose juror information for good cause. Like the ruling on a continuance, a ruling to deny access to juror information is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Breckenridge v. Valley Gen. Hosp., 150 Wn.2d 197, 203-04, 75 P.3d 944 (2003). As set forth above, Mr. Pena had good cause to believe juror number two could not hear some or all pertinent parts of the proceedings and could not participate in deliberations. The court agreed that this was good cause for investigation that did not require inquiry into facts inherent in the verdict. Compare 10/23/12 RP 136-38 (noting inquiry into whether juror number two could participate did not require inquiry into the jurors' processes) with e.g., Breckenridge, 150 Wn.2d at 204. Moreover, Mr. Pena attempted to contact the jurors without the court's assistance. The lack of success proved the necessity of the court's disclosure under GR 31(j). The court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Pena's request for assistance in contacting the jurors.

## d. This Court should vacate the sentence and remand to allow Mr. Pena to investigate juror number two's hearing impairment.

Upon careful review of the record, the trial court's denial of a continuance was based on untenable grounds. Likewise, the court abused its discretion in failing to provide Mr. Pena with the jurors' contact information. On either or both grounds, this Court should vacate the sentence entered after the denial of a continuance and allow Mr. Pena to return to the trial court to continue investigating the extent to which juror number two was unable to listen or participate in support of Mr. Pena's motion for a new trial.

2. The court's instruction equating the reasonable doubt standard with an abiding belief in the truth of the charge diluted the State's burden of proof and misstated the law in violation of Mr. Pena's due process right to a fair trial.

"The jury's job is <u>not</u> to determine the truth of what happened; a jury therefore does not 'speak the truth' or 'declare the truth."" *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (emphasis added) (quoting *State v. Anderson*, 153 Wn. App. 417, 431, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009)); *State v. Berube*, 171 Wn. App. 103, 286 P.3d 402, 411 (2012); *State v. McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. 444, 472-73, 284 P.3d 793 (2012). "[A] jury's job is to determine whether the State has proved the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt." *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760.

Confusing jury instructions raise a due process concern because they may wash away or dilute the presumption of innocence. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 315-16, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). The court bears the obligation to vigilantly protect the presumption of innocence. *Id.* "[A] jury instruction misstating the reasonable doubt standard is subject to automatic reversal without any showing of prejudice." *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 757 (quoting *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 281-82, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993)).

The trial court instructed the jury that proof beyond a reasonable doubt means that, after considering the evidence, the jurors had "an abiding belief in the truth of the charge." CP 53 (Instruction # 2). By equating proof beyond a reasonable doubt with a "belief in the truth" of the charge, the court confused the critical role of the jury. The "belief in the truth" language encourages the jury to undertake an impermissible search for the truth and invites the error identified in *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 741. Because the error is of constitutional dimension and affected Mr. Pena's rights at trial by lowering the State's burden of proof, it may be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3).

In *Bennett*, the Supreme Court found the reasonable doubt instruction derived from *State v. Castle*, 86 Wn. App. 48, 53, 935 P.2d 656 (1997), to be "problematic" because it was inaccurate and misleading. 161 Wn.2d at 317-18. Exercising its "inherent supervisory powers," the Supreme Court directed trial courts to use WPIC 4.01 in future cases. *Id.* at 318. WPIC 4.01 includes the "belief in the truth" language only as a potential option by including it in brackets.

The pattern instruction reads:

[The] [Each] defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts in issue every element of [the] [each] crime charged. The [State] [City] [County] is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of [the] [each] crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists [as to these elements].

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. [*If*, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.]

WPIC 4.01.

ند سر

> The *Bennett* Court did not comment on the bracketed "belief in the truth" language. Notably, this bracketed language was not a mandatory part of the pattern instruction the Court approved. Recent cases demonstrate the problematic nature of such language. In *Emery*, the prosecution told the jury that "your verdict should speak the truth," and "the truth of the matter is, the truth of these charges, are that" the defendants are guilty. 174 Wn.2d at 751. Our Supreme Court clearly held these remarks misstated the jury's role. *Id.* at 764. However, the error was harmless because the "belief in the truth" theme was not part of the court's instructions and because the evidence was overwhelming. *Id.* at 764 n.14.

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