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

c. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS 
DISCRETION BY DENYING PENA'S REQUESTS 
FOR A SECOND CONTINUANCE AND THE 
RELEASE OF JUROR INFORMATION. 

Pena argues that the trial court abused its discretion in 

denying his requests for a continuance and the release of juror 

information to investigate a juror's ability to hear. This argument 

should be rejected. The trial court properly exercised its discretion 

where the motions were based on a juror's isolated and momentary 

inability to hear when it was not clear if her assisted listening device 

was functioning properly. 
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a. Relevant Facts. 

On October 30,2012, after the jury found Pena guilty of child 

molestation in the 'first degree, the trial court polled each juror 

individually. 11 RP 2. The following exchange occurred while 

polling juror 2: 

The Court: Juror 2, this was your individual verdict? 

Juror No.2: I can't -

The Court: Is this how you voted? 

Juror NO.2: (Nodded affirmatively.) I can't hear you. 

The Court: You can't hear me? 

Juror NO.2: What is she saying? 

The Court: Juror 2, can you hear me at all without 
the - can you hear me now? 

Juror NO.2: Okay. 

The Court: Can you hear me now? 

Juror No.2: Yeah. 

The Court: Okay. Was this your individual verdict, 
is this how you voted? 

Juror NO.2: Yes. 

The Court: Was it the verdict of the entire jury 
panel? 

(Off the record.) 
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The Court: Was it how the entire jury panel voted? 

Juror NO.2: I can't hear. 

The Court: Did the entire jury panel vote to convict? 

Juror No.2: Yes. 

11 RP 3-4.5 

The following week, Pena filed a motion requesting 

additional time before sentencing to investigate juror 2's ability to 

hear. CP 66. The trial court granted Pena's request and continued 

the motion hearing from November 30,2012 to January 25,2013 to 

allow Pena's counsel more time to review the record and to 

investigate. CP 253; 6RP 139-40, 143. 

At the following hearing, Pena's counsel stated that her 

investigator had not been able to contact any of the jurors directly. 

6RP 147. Pena requested a second continuance to investigate and 

asked the court to release juror information. 6RP 147. Pena's 

counsel said "I think that the record is absent then in regard to 

5 Juror 2 was wearing a listening device throughout trial and had it with her as 
she was being polled by the court. 6RP 138. The record does not reflect 
whether juror 2 had the listening device turned on or if it was functioning while 
she was being polled. When the trial court inquired of juror 2 individually, the 
juror hesitated, then took off her listening device and eventually answered the 
court's questions. CP 254. Pena's trial counsel stated that juror 2 requested a 
listening device after the jury was impaneled. CP 64. It is unclear if counsel's 
timing is accurate. The only request for a listening device reflected in the record 
was made before the jury was impaneled. 7RP 4. Following the court's hardship 
inquiry prior to either party commencing voir dire, the court indicated that an 
unknown juror had requested a listening device. 7RP 4. 
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whether or not juror 2 could hear throughout the proceedings." 

6RP 147. The prosecutor noted that there was no indication from 

juror 2 or any of the other jurors that juror 2 had difficulty hearing 

during trial or was unable to deliberate. 6RP 148-49. The court 

stated: 

The only thing that we knew or know now, is 
that the juror was having difficulty with the listening 
device when I was polling her. She did, obviously, 
have the ability to ask for help when she needed it, 
because that's why she had a listening device in the 
first place. There was never any indication she 
had any difficulty at al/ during the trial, or ever, 
until that point. So, it's unclear what the cause of 
her difficulty was at the time I was polling her. Could 
have been the battery went out just then, I don't know. 
Who knows? 

But, I don't think it's appropriate, by any 
means, to summon all the jurors to come back. I'm 
not going to do that. There's just not a basis to 
even, frankly-nobody knows what the issue is. So, 
I don't think additional time's going to help. So, I think 
we need to proceed to sentencing on February 5th • 

6RP 150 (emphasis added). Given the lack of evidence that juror 2 

was unable to hear at any time other than when she was polled, the 

court denied Pena's request for an additional continuance and his 

request for juror information. 6RP 150. 
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b. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By 
Denying Pena's Request For A Second 
Continuance. 

A trial court's decision granting or denying a continuance 

lies within the sound discretion of the court. State v. Herzog, 69 

Wn. App. 521, 524, 849 P.2d 1235 (1993). The trial court's 

decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a showing that the 

court abused its discretion and the defendant was prejudiced 

thereby. State v. Barnes, 58 Wn. App. 465, 471, 794 P.2d 52 

(1990), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 117Wn.2d 701, 818 P.2d 1088 

(1991). Discretion is abused if it is exercised on untenable grounds 

or for untenable reasons. kL at 471. 

Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying 

Pena's request for a second continuance of his sentencing hearing, 

and Pena has not demonstrated that he was prejudiced as a result. 

There is no evidence that juror 2 had difficulty hearing at any 

other time during the trial proceedings. 6RP 150; see State v. 

Woods, 143 Wn.2d 561, 607, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001) (given dearth of 

any indicia of defendant's incompetence, the trial court did not err in 

denying a one-week continuance of the sentencing to allow the 

defendant to be examined). Moreover, numerous safeguards were 

in place to ensure that juror 2 could hear throughout the 
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proceedings. Juror 2 was provided with an assisted listening 

device, which she used throughout the trial. 6RP 138. She 

demonstrated an ability to notify the court when she was unable to 

hear by proactively requesting a listening device from the court and 

by notifying the court while being polled post-verdict that she could 

not hear the judge. 6RP 150; 11 RP 3-4. Additionally, a juror 

interrupted proceedings when a witness was speaking quietly. 

10RP 13.6 The court then asked the witness to speak into the 

microphone and to speak louder. 10RP 13. 

Juror 2 was also observed during voir dire for suitability for 

jury service and accepted by both parties. Throughout the trial, the 

juror could be observed by the court, counsel, and by court 

personnel, none of whom expressed any concern with juror 2. 

6RP 139. Furthermore, jurors are observable by each other and 

may report concerns to the court and court staff. Here, no 

concerns were expressed by any jurors. 6RP 148. 

The trial court had previously granted Pena a two-month 

continuance to review the record and to investigate juror 2's ability 

to hear. CP 253; 6RP 139-40, 143. Following the first continuance, 

6 The record does not reflect which juror was speaking, thus it is unclear whether 
the speaker was juror 2 or one of the other jurors. 10RP 13. 
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Pena did not point to anything in the record showing that the juror 

was unable to hear proceedings, and Pena's investigator had been 

unable to contact any of the jurors directly. 6RP 147. A stronger 

showing is usually required in support of a subsequent motion for 

continuance. See Herzog, 69 Wn. App. at 525. 

Pena's claim that there was a "substantial likelihood" that 

juror 2 could not hear throughout other proceedings is simply not 

supported by the record and should be rejected . During the only 

instance when the record shows that juror 2 had difficulty hearing, 

the juror informed the court immediately that she was unable to 

hear. 11 RP 3. She then took her listening device off and was able 

to answer the court's questions. CP 254. The record does not 

reflect whether the listening device was functioning properly that 

morning, whether the device was turned on, whether the volume 

was turned up, or whether the battery was working. Throughout 

the entire trial up to that point, there is no indication that juror 2 

had difficulty hearing the proceedings. Given the present 

circumstances, this Court, like the trial court, should not easily jump 

to a conclusion that a temporary problem hearing with the 

assistance of a listening device supports a "substantial likelihood" 

that the juror could not hear throughout all other proceedings. 
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Similarly, Pena's claim that the trial court did not consider 

the substance of the motion to continue is without merit. The 

record demonstrates that the court considered the information and 

arguments presented by both parties. 6RP 133-40, 147-50. The 

court considered the request for a continuance in light of the 

information presented and the court's own observations. 6RP 150. 

The court concluded that there was no valid reason for further 

delay. 6RP 150. This conclusion was not untenable, especially 

given the prior continuance, the absence of any evidence 

suggesting that the juror had difficulty hearing at any other time, 

and the other safeguards in place throughout the trial. 

c. The Trial Court Properly Denied Pena's 
Request For Juror Information. 

GR 310) creates a presumption that juror information, other 

than name, is private. After trial is over, upon a showing of good 

cause, one of the parties may petition the court to allow access to 

juror information. GR 310). Upon such a showing, the trial court 

may permit access to juror information. GR 310). Such a decision 

is discretionary, and the trial court's decision is reviewed for an 

abuse of discretion to determine whether the decision is manifestly 
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unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable 

reasons . State v. Blazina, 174 Wn. App. 906, 909, 301 P.3d 492 

(2013). 

Here, sound reasons support the trial court's decision. The 

court found that there was not a basis to release juror information 

based on the absence of information indicating that juror 2 was 

unable to hear during the trial proceedings. 6RP 150. The court 

found that Pena had not shown good cause to overcome the 

presumption of privacy for juror information. 6RP 150. Due to the 

lack of information supporting Pena's request, the trial court's 

decision was not based on untenable grounds or reasons. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHERE IT 
INSTRUCTED THE JURY USING THE "ABIDING 
BELIEF" LANGUAGE CONTAINED IN WPIC 4.01. 

Pena argues that the court improperly instructed the jury on 

the burden of proof where the court used the traditional abiding 

belief language in Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 

(WPIC) 4.01. This argument should be rejected. Pena waived this 

issue by adopting the abiding belief language; in any event, the use 

of the challenged language has consistently been upheld as a 

proper statement of the law. 
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Jury instructions, when considered in their entirety, must 

inform the jury that the State bears the burden of proving every 

essential element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt. 

In reWinship, 397 U.S. 358, 364,90 S. Ct. 1068, 1072-73,25 

L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). It is reversible error to instruct the jury in a 

manner that would relieve the State of its burden. State v. Allen, 

101 Wn.2d 355, 358,678 P.2d 798 (1984). Challenged jury 

instructions are reviewed de novo and are evaluated in the context 

of the instructions as a whole. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 171 , 

892 P.2d 29 (1995). 

Here, after Pena adopted the State's offered instruction 

utilizing the abiding belief language, the court accordingly instructed 

the jury using that language. 10RP 3. Pena waived any challenge 

to the language; in any event, it is a correct statement of the law. 

The instruction given by the court mirrored WPIC 4.01: 

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason 
exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of 
evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the 
mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and 
carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of 
evidence. If, from such consideration, you have an 
abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are 
satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt. 
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CP 53 (emphasis added); see 11 Wash. Prac., Washington Pattern 

Jury Instructions: Criminal, 4.01, at 85 (3rd ed. 2008). 

The abiding belief language, as used in WPIC 4.01, has 

repeatedly and consistently been upheld as a correct statement of 

the law. See State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995); 

State v. Lane, 56 Wn. App. 286, 786 P.2d 277 (1989); State v. 

Mabry, 51 Wn. App. 24, 751 P.2d 882 (1988); State v. Peterson, 35 

Wn. App. 481,667 P.2d 645, rev. denied, 100 Wn.2d 1028 (1983); 

State v. Price, 33 Wn. App. 472, 655 P.2d 1191 (1982); State v. 

Walker, 19 Wn. App. 881,578 P.2d 83, rev. denied, 90 Wn.2d 1023 

(1978); State v. Tanzymore, 54 Wn.2d 290,340 P.2d 178 (1959). 

Moreover, the United States Supreme Court upheld a reasonable 

doubt instruction using the phrase "abiding conviction" where, 

similar to the instruction used here, the jurors were advised that 

their conclusion had to be based on the evidence in the case. 

Victorv. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 114 S. Ct. 1239, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583 

(1994). 

Despite repeated confirmation of the abiding belief language, 

Pena cites to State v. Emery to support his claim that the 

challenged language encourages the jury to view its role as a 

search for the truth . 174 Wn.2d 741,760,278 P.3d 653 (2012). 
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Pena's reliance on Emery is misguided. In Emery, the court did not 

address the use of the "abiding belief' language, in jury instructions 

or otherwise. Rather, the court addressed burden shifting in the 

context of the prosecutor's closing argument that "this entire trial 

has been a search for the truth . And it is not a search for doubt." 

~ at 758? Here, neither the prosecutor nor Pena's trial counsel 

argued that the jury's duty was to search for the truth. Pena's 

argument is without merit. The jury was properly instructed on the 

burden of proof through the use of WPIC 4.01. 

D. CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks 

this Court to affirm Pena's conviction .